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 ASSEMBLYMAN ROBERT J. KARABINCHAK (Vice 

Chair):  We’d like to get the meeting started. 

 I would like everyone to please stand for the Pledge of 

Allegiance. (all recite the Pledge) 

 Thank you. 

 Roll call, please. 

 MR. ROTHBERG (Committee Aide):  Assemblyman DiMaio. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN DiMAIO:  I’m here. 

 MR. ROTHBERG:  Assemblyman Tully. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN TULLY:  Here. 

 MR. ROTHBERG:  Assemblyman Freiman. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN FREIMAN:  Here. 

 MR. ROTHBERG:  Assemblyman Chiaravalloti. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN CHIARAVALLOTI:  Here. 

 MR. ROTHBERG:  Assemblyman Calabrese. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN CALABRESE:  Here. 

 MR. ROTHBERG:  Assemblyman Armato. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN ARMATO:  Here. 

 MR. ROTHBERG:  And Assemblyman Karabinchak. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Here. 

 MR. ROTHBERG:  We have a quorum. 

 Thank you. 

 Just a few-- 
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(After the meeting was called to order, and following the 

establishment of a quorum, approximately three unidentified 

members of the public interrupted the proceedings.  At least one of 

those individuals made comments off-microphone.  The attempt to 

offer oral and written comment was ruled out of order by the Chair, 

and the individuals were removed from the room.) 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Well, I have to tell you, I 

didn’t think my first day of chairing -- being the Chairman here, I was going 

to have a show, too. (laughter) 

 However--  So we’re just going to start to move forward. 

 And if I could ask somebody to remove those boxes off the 

table (indicates), because there are other people who are going to come and 

speak.  And I know the--  Obviously, it’s a nice prop there; but I’m going to 

ask to have them put in front here (indicates). 

 Thank you. 

 Just a few notes for today. 

 One of the items, A-4730, is just going to be for discussion 

only.  There will not be a vote on that today. 

 With regard to Assembly Bill 5343, there’s an amendment that 

will change and extend the deadline to January 31, 2020. 

 There are a lot of people who are going to testify and have their 

points.  I’m going to ask them to please limit it -- that they be between 

three and five minutes, because we have a lot of people who are going to 

talk.  And obviously there may be a lot of questions coming from the panel. 

 So with that being said, one other note that--  Obviously, 

anything that is said here is going to be transcribed.  And there will also be-- 

Anything that’s written, coming to this Committee, will also be put into the 

transcribed information and will be part of the testimony for the record.  So 
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whether it’s said here or not, anything that is written will be part of the 

record, okay? 

 So with that being said, Mr. McKoy from NJ Policy 

Perspective. 

 Thank you.  Either one, and just push the button. 

B R A N D O N   M c K O Y:  Hello. 

 Thank you, Chairman; good morning to you, and all the 

members of the Committee.  

 My name is Brandon McKoy; I am the President of New Jersey 

Policy Perspective, and I really appreciate the opportunity to testify on this 

important issue. 

 New Jersey Policy Perspective has researched and analyzed the 

State’s economic development programs for over 20 years.  We closely 

monitor the tax credits awarded by the State EDA, how many jobs created 

and maintained that the State gets in return, and we regularly compare New 

Jersey’s corporate subsidy programs -- and the laws that guide them -- 

against those in other states across the nation. 

 These decades of research and analysis bring us to a simple 

conclusion:  New Jersey’s economic development programs have been 

improperly designed, poorly measured, and insufficiently examined since 

the implementation of the 2013 Economic Opportunity Act, which I will 

heretofore refer to as the 2013 EOA.   

 While the Economic Development Authority, in and of itself, is 

not a problematic entity, the legislation that guides its operations leaves 

much to be desired. 
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 Since the passage of the 2013 EOA, New Jersey’s corporate tax 

subsidies have risen to unprecedented levels, with an enormous financial 

reward to very few corporations and at an enormous cost to Garden State 

taxpayers.  New Jersey is now a national outlier for how much it spends on 

corporate tax subsidies and how little it receives as a return on that 

investment. 

  But it does not have to be this way.  As the current laws 

guiding the State’s corporate subsidy programs are set to expire on June 30, 

this legislative body has an incredible opportunity to revamp the State’s 

approach to economic development so that it benefits businesses, workers, 

and taxpayers alike. 

 The purported goals of the legislation being considered today 

may have good intentions, but they lack the critical reforms necessary to get 

New Jersey’s economic development strategy back on track.  It is NJPP’s 

position that the extensive flaws in the 2013 EOA must be addressed before 

any consideration of extending these programs. 

 While Bill A-4730 would slightly improve eligibility 

requirements for the Grow New Jersey Assistance Program, it lacks key 

reforms that would reel in an out-of-control corporate tax subsidy initiative. 

It contains no annual spending caps, no mandated reporting to verify 

outcomes, no recurring evaluation process, no annual forecasting or multi-

year cost projections, and no labor protections.  In fact, this legislation 

rewards corporations that hire contract workers. 

 Meanwhile, with regards to A-5343 -- it would simply extend 

the existing program to January 31, 2020.  For a program with well-

documented flaws that is projected to rob the State budget of over $1 
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billion in revenue annually, this is a problem for the foreseeable future of 

the State of New Jersey.  It makes little sense to extend this program. 

 Rational and attainable fixes have been suggested, time and 

time again, to this Legislature, both by NJPP and national experts; and yet, 

they remain conspicuously absent from both of these proposals. 

 Before considering extensions, we must recognize that these 

programs have not produced results as intended, and the cost to the State 

remains too great, and the means to verify impact remains insufficient. 

 Before 2013, New Jersey’s corporate subsidy spending was in 

line with the national average, at about $16,000 per job created or 

maintained.  Since the passage of the 2013 EOA, the State has awarded 

enormous corporate subsidies that are more than five times the national 

average.  In return, the State has received little verifiable performance or 

uptick in jobs, development, and economic growth.  And simply put, rather 

than being another tool in the toolbox of economic development, corporate 

tax subsidies became the economic development strategy of New Jersey. 

 For years, we have raised the alarm about the enormous cost of 

these programs to our State, at a time when New Jersey can least afford to 

gamble away future tax revenue.  These bills proposed today do not 

sufficiently assuage the concerns that we have documented.   

 And you don’t have to just take my word on it, honestly.  Other 

than the findings of multiple reviews and analyses by other independent 

actors, the Fiscal Impact Statement by OLS that accompanied the final 

version of the 2013 EOA clearly states that the loss of revenue to the State’s 

Treasury, due to credit redemptions, would be enormous.  It also says that 

the levels of Corporate Business Tax uncertainty and losses, even with 
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implied increased local spending and jobs development, could be substantial 

and result in a decade of direct business tax revenue reductions and losses.  

And while some would like to deny that reality, those warnings have 

actually come to fruition. 

 Without implementing annual caps for awards, shorter term 

lengths for awards, penalties for bad actors, and known tax dodgers, wage 

protections for workers, and nationally recognized best practices for 

assessment and review, NJPP cannot support these bills as currently 

constructed. 

 And, just finally, I’ll say I understand that this body and the 

Legislature are on a short timeline with regard to the sunset of the 2013 

EOA; you’re looking at a couple of weeks here.  But NJPP, and others have 

been commenting on these issues to lawmakers for years.  None of this 

should have come as a surprise to anyone. 

 Given the scope and cost of New Jersey’s corporate tax 

subsidies, the laws guiding the EDA will be among the most consequential 

pieces of legislation passed this session.  Passage of any extension without 

the inclusion of critically necessary reforms continues to leave the State 

extremely vulnerable to uncertain and insufficient economic outcomes. 

   This presents you an incredible opportunity to fix the 

problems with New Jersey’s existing corporate subsidy programs, and to 

ensure that future economic development benefits all New Jerseyans -- 

business owners, their workers, local communities, and taxpayers alike. 

 I appreciate the opportunity to testify.   

 Thank you. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Thank you very much. 
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 Are there any questions from the members? 

 ASSEMBLYMAN CHIARAVALLOTI:  Can I ask one? 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Yes. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN CHIARAVALLOTI: Brandon, good to see 

you. 

 MR. McKOY:   Good to see you, sir. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN CHIARAVALLOTI:  Today is going to be an 

interesting day. 

 But I do want--  Since you’re here -- and I think that we’re 

going to continue to have conversations about this in the coming months -- 

but I do have a concern on the cap and the way you view the cap.  So 

forgetting the theatrics for a second, I know you’re a serious thinker.  Why 

do you favor an overall cap on yearly expenditures, rather than creating a 

system where we cap the support for a specific project?  So for example, as 

you know, when you look at the 15-year-out program under the current 

system, there is no cap.  So if your delta is only $8 million, but the formula 

says you should get $20 million, you get the $20 million.  I think that’s 

clearly a flaw in the system that I want to address going forward.  But that’s 

different than what you’re discussing, as far as -- and what’s been proposed 

by others, as far as capping overall projects.   

 So if you can talk to just -- a little bit about it.   

 And Chairman, I promise I’m not going to take up a lot of time, 

but this is the first time I’ve had a chance to ask him a question in public. 

 MR. McKOY:  Absolutely. 

 So I think the impetus to support caps on these programs 

comes from two places.  One, we discussed the effects these programs have 
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had with national experts for the past 20 years, right?  And this is from the 

best practice they suggest because they feel--  I mean, no mayor, or 

freeholder, anyone in charge of the government would have a line item in 

the budget that they did not know what that was going to cost, right?  And 

so we feel like it’s very dangerous for the State to not at least have a cap; 

which really, in our eyes, is simply saying here’s how much money we’re 

going to spend on this effort for this year; and that is going to force us to be 

smart in how we deploy these resources. 

 The other situation, and the other reason why we support caps 

is because New Jersey really cannot afford to engage in this sort of exercise, 

to the degree that it has, due to our overall fiscal standing.  If we were 

California, if we were Massachusetts, and we had a better fiscal health 

situation, maybe then you could talk about having more spending on these 

sorts of programs.  But because of the inability for the State to invest in 

what we consider our very, very important investments in other assets, we 

need to prioritize those things over this.  So the cap is really, for us, a 

budget. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN CHIARAVALLOTI:  Okay. 

 I’m going to--  The only other comment I have -- and I have lots 

of questions, but I think I’ll wait for a future date. 

 MR. McKOY:  I’m happy-- 

 ASSEMBLYMAN CHIARAVALLOTI:  I know, I know.  But 

it’s the Chairman’s first time out, and I want to take it easy today. 

(laughter) 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  We had a nice show first. 
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 ASSEMBLYMAN CHIARAVALLOTI:  Yes, we did have a nice 

show. 

 I would say this to you.  I think there--  From my perspective, 

since the Comptroller’s report, this has been something  we’ve been much 

more focused in on; and there are concerns.  

  I would say, though, that because of the rhythm of Trenton -- 

okay? -- and there’s no big surprise.  I’m going to be supporting moving this 

forward, with the understanding that this Committee is going to be charged 

with holding hearings, and hearing from the public on it, going forward, so 

that we can fix the program.  I think the Comptroller’s report raised a lot of 

issues.  And to be honest with you, the Governor’s decision to put those 

issues front and center surprised a lot of us, since the Comptroller’s--  

Because of the time the Comptroller’s came out and the State of the State 

address was in just a couple of days.   

 So I understand your concerns.  And as you know, from 

previous conversations with your group--  Although I have historically 

supported the tax incentive program, and I think we need to be competitive 

in the process.  I don’t think that today is the end game, okay?  I think the 

end game is six, seven months from now, and in the ensuing months over 

the summer, when we have those hearings and can really delve into the 

good, the bad, and the ugly. 

 But I do appreciate your testimony. 

 Chairman, I appreciate the time.  

 Thank you. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Thank you. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN CHIARAVALLOTI:  Thank you, Brandon. 
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 MR. McKOY:  Thank you, Assemblyman. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN DiMAIO:  Chairman, may I please? 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Yes, Assemblyman 

DiMaio. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN DiMAIO:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

 Why are the tax incentive programs necessary? 

 MR. McKOY:  Necessary?  I’m not sure that they are necessary. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN DiMAIO:  Taxes are too high, maybe? 

 ASSEMBLYMAN DiMAIO:  I’m not sure that they are 

necessary to begin with, though. 

 If the State had the revenue necessary to invest in a long-term 

fashion, and could attract businesses because of those assets being highly 

supported and high quality, the need for a tax incentive program would be 

low. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN DiMAIO:   So right now CBT top rate with 

the surcharge is about 11.5 percent?   

 MR. McKOY:  Yes. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN DiMAIO:  How does that compare to other 

states around us? 

 MR. McKOY:  That is higher than a couple of states around us.  

Income taxes for the top 1 percent are lower than they should be, and            

so we have results-- 

 ASSEMBLYMAN DiMAIO:  But that’s GIT; I’m talking about 

corporate business tax. 

 MR. McKOY:  Yes,  

 ASSEMBLYMAN DiMAIO:  Because-- 
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 MR. McKOY:  CBT is higher than other states. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN DiMAIO:  New Jersey is situated halfway 

between D.C. and Boston, right in the middle of Philadelphia and New 

York.  You would think that we’d be a natural for job creation, job 

retention. 

 I didn’t vote for that 2013 Bill, because I feel a lower tax 

structure in the corporate world would bring businesses in and retain 

businesses on their own, and we’d have more jobs.  We’re really after jobs; 

we want to have the income from the gross income tax side.  We want 

higher-income people to live here, but we need the jobs to sustain that.  I 

just don’t feel like New Jersey’s ever--  With all the economic recovery in 

New Jersey, I don’t feel that New Jersey has really had the same robust 

economic recovery that other states have. 

 MR. McKOY:  And I would argue that’s because we did not 

invest in the assets that have made us unique. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN DiMAIO:  What are those assets? 

 MR. McKOY:  New Jersey Transit, higher education, property 

tax reform are the things that make people really want to live here.  New 

Jersey Transit was the gold standard for the country up until 2007.  And as 

a result of defunding it has now fallen from that perch.  And obviously 

people having transportation, and being able to move people around to get 

to work, to get to school on time is a significant part of our economy; and 

failure to do that is failure. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN DiMAIO:  But even with these programs, we 

haven’t been able to spur significant job growth in New Jersey, as compared 

to other states-- 
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 MR. McKOY:  And I would say-- 

 ASSEMBLYMAN DiMAIO:  --that have lower taxes -- 

corporate business taxes, and are giving out incentives too. 

 So, I mean, I agree--  Listen, your presentation was probably 

one of the most insightful and on-the-mark as I’ve heard on this issue.  But 

I still believe that if we had an overall lower tax rate so we’d have more 

businesses occur here, we would have more higher-paying jobs here for 

everyone and we would grow and be able to take care of those programs 

with the income from higher-paying jobs. 

 MR. McKOY:  I would appreciate the opportunity to talk with 

you about that. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN DiMAIO:  Okay, thank you. 

 Thank you, Mr. Chair. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Thank you, 

Assemblyman. 

 Anyone else? (no response) 

 Okay, thank you very much. 

 MR. McKOY:  Thank you, Chairman. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Okay, the next speakers 

are from NAIOP of New Jersey, Michael and Anthony. 

M I C H A E L   G.   M c G U I N N E S S:  Good morning, Mr. 

Chairman; members of the Committee. 

 My name is Mike McGuinness, Chief Executive for NAIOP 

New Jersey.  We are a trade association for investors, developers, and asset 

managers of commercial and industrial real estate properties in the state. 
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 We thank you for this opportunity to provide a few remarks 

today about the Bills that are on the docket here.  

 We’d like to start off by saying that we urge you to support A-

5343, which would extend the program GROW 2.0 for another seven 

months, so that we all have time to digest some of these ideas that have 

been put forth on the table.   

 We would also support a continuation of the program with 

many changes, which would be decided upon in those seven months. 

  Before I get into any details -- and it will be brief -- I just 

wanted to mention that you all have, in front of you, a packet, a green 

packet.  And in there -- what I wanted to do was provide you with some 

statistics, some facts, some summary data on what’s happening out there 

now. 

 There’s a piece in here called Debunking Myths Surrounding the 

GROW New Jersey Incentive Program.  There are some charts -- which 

summarize the amount of capital investment by county in the state, in 

terms of percentages and actual dollar amounts -- to see that it’s not just 

one or two counties; although much of the money has gone to only a few 

counties.   

 There’s also a report in here which talks about summary of key 

facts; and it gets into, again, some more detail on where the jobs have 

occurred; which sectors. 

 And there’s also a table in here where the growth has occurred; 

under which programs that EDA administers. 
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 There’s also an op-ed piece -- I had an opportunity to author it 

in NJBIZ -- which talks about a vision for a state of innovation and more, 

which talks about the incentives. 

 What I would like to leave you with today is that now we--  

Our members are really on the front lines of economic development in the 

state, whether it be in the industrial parks; that line -- the Turnpike or 

Route 295 in the western part of the state; whether it’s in the urban centers, 

north, Hackensack, Asbury Park, Trenton, Morristown, Camden, Paterson; 

or in the suburban areas of Somerset, Morris, Mercer counties.  We’re all 

over.  Wherever the market takes us, that’s where -- we’re there. 

 And we’re not there without support from the local 

communities.  If the community has the vision to see that they want to 

have this type of job in their town, we’re there to work with them and 

partner with them.   

 So we’re basically on the front lines of economic development. 

We see the trends, we advise the municipalities, we certainly have to 

comply with a lot of State, Federal, and local permits and standards.  So 

this is not done with -- it’s done with a lot of forethought and a lot of 

careful thinking. 

  We also share Governor Murphy’s vision for a state of 

innovation, a fairer economy, meaningful wage growth, increase in venture 

capital investments, encouraging the thriving urban centers, and closing the 

racial and gender wage gaps. 

  We also agree with the Governor’s intent, which is to scale 

back the awards -- the size of the awards; and to rebalance priorities to 
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reflect today’s market, and to reduce the benefits that go to retain jobs, as 

opposed to new jobs. 

 Let’s admit it:  Organic job growth is best.  But until New 

Jersey, as the earlier gentleman said, makes a lot more meaningful 

investments in our infrastructure -- whether it be digital, transportation, 

water, energy; and we’re a long ways from being there -- we’re going to need 

these incentives.  And it’s not just us telling you that; the companies that 

are coming in from Chicago, Atlanta, Long Island -- they’re doing the 

numbers, and if it makes sense to be here they’ll be here. 

  Another big driver today is the labor market.  We have a very 

low unemployment rate of 3 percent, 3.5 percent.  But in the tech sector, 

it’s much lower; it’s maybe 1.5 percent.  So companies do these heat maps 

of where they have an employee base; and that’s where they want to be.   

 So I think New Jersey would be best served to invest -- put 

more to start investing substantial money in its infrastructure; and over 

time, perhaps we can wean ourselves off some of these incentives.  But we’re 

not there yet; we’re a long ways from being there.  So to be able to compete 

with other states, we have to be at the table in terms of the incentives game. 

  So I think with that having been said, I’d like to introduce my 

colleague, Tony Pizzutillo, who will talk a little bit more on some of the 

details of what it should look like moving forward. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Thank you. 

A N T H O N Y   P I Z Z U T I L L O:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman; thank 

you, Michael.  

 Let me just add a little bit to what Michael was just stating.  
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 I think it’s important for everyone to realize that the whole-- 

One of the major objectives of EO 2013 was to inject economic activity and 

revitalization in distressed areas.  And it is conventional knowledge that 72 

percent of the awards that have been made over the last five years have 

been into statutorily defined distressed areas.  That is indicative of the 

geographic zones, which are still embodied in A-4730; and now I’d like to 

talk about A-4730. 

  And those geographic zones are also statutorily qualified and 

defined.  And they’re important, Mr. Chairman, for a number of reasons.  

They have evolved over the last 20 years and, as a result of that,  have been 

embodied in a number pieces of legislations as they evolved, from BRRAG, 

and BEIP, to Urban Transit, to Grow, and ERG.  And as a result of that, 

they have been branded by the industry.  So when commercial brokers, 

employers, businesses that are from out of state that are looking at New 

Jersey, these definitions make it user-friendly for them to determine where 

growth, and bonuses, and awards can be made.  And the whole purpose of 

the Act was to encourage growth where New Jersey has already invested 

significantly in infrastructure; and basically to prohibit sprawl and growth in 

green lands.  It’s so much easier for green fields to be developed in this state 

than it is when you’re talking about contaminated sites, or sites that need 

to be repurposed.  

 So the whole impetus is to match a couple of things.  To 

maximize the use of those underutilized properties, as well as to attract the 

labor market in those urban areas where millennials and the young labor 

market want to live and work.  So geographic areas are really important; 

and we should continue them, and that continues in the Pintor Marin Bill. 
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 In addition to that, with regards to caps, Assemblyman 

Chiaravalloti had a good point.  There are caps in the Grow program; there 

are base caps, and there are bonus caps, as well as withholding caps.  There 

are no annual caps.  And the reason why there are no annual caps is because 

the industry, as they inform us, goes through a poor planning process that 

may take years to determine where they strategically want to move.  And 

what we do is take out the guesswork on whether or not, two years from 

now, if a company wants to move into New Jersey -- on whether or not tax 

credits are going to be available. 

 So since we have a net benefit test, we don’t need annual caps. 

The net benefit test essentially empowers and authorizes the EDA to make 

a determination -- an economic determination -- that the rate of return is 

going to be in New Jersey’s favor.  And not until that company earns those 

tax credits are they then awarded over the next 10 years.  And that doesn’t 

include the multiplier effect as a result of that company generating jobs and 

growth in New Jersey.  No one thinks about that; but that is a very 

important aspect when you think about when you create jobs in Newark, or 

Camden, or wherever. 

  In addition to that, New Jersey still has a but-for test.  The but-

for test is a rigorous test that a CEO has to sign, to state that but for these 

incentives, they would not be looking to move to New Jersey.  And that’s a 

big step, and that’s hard to do.  And it has one of the most rigorous but-for 

tests in all the nation. 

 I already spoke about the net benefit test.  

 Another important aspect is transferability of tax credits; very 

important, okay?  I think everyone wants to see small businesses, 
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innovative, high-tech companies, biotech companies move into New Jersey.  

They do not have a corporate business tax burden, okay?  They will then 

receive tax credits as payment for their investment.  Now remember, Grow 

is both capital investment and employment investment.  It’s not just 

employment investment like the old program.  You have to put a shovel in 

the ground, you need to improve a building, you need to put skin in the 

game.  

 So you’re then awarded -- once you’ve earned them -- those tax 

credits that then can be monetized to pay for your investment in New 

Jersey.  There’s nothing wrong with that; it makes perfect sense.  Everybody 

does it around this country; they’re called exchanges.  And if we want to 

attract companies that are small businesses -- like we are; innovation -- they 

are -- their corporate formation is not a corporate business tax burden 

formation; and that needs to be understood. 

 And then, lastly, what I’d like to say is that NAIOP respectfully 

recommends that, as with the Grow New Jersey program that included the 

commercial ERG program--  ERG is a tax increment financing program; very 

common across the country, and very important for New Jersey for 

developers that want to build in at-risk areas -- where we would like to see 

them build, okay? -- that had gap financing issues with regards to 

constructing their project.  This would amount to a revenue strip -- as a 

result of that new use -- from State taxes that are generated from that new 

use, to basically pay for a bridge loan over 10 years.  That is important; that 

was recently, back in August, enhanced, and improved, and sponsored by 

Speaker Coughlin; and signed into law, in August, by Governor Murphy, so 
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that we have a more robust ERG program.  That needs to be reattached to 

this Bill -- to A-4730. 

 And with that, Mr. Chairman, those are my comments. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Thank you, sir.  

 I just wanted to mention that Assemblyman Auth has just 

joined the Committee. 

 With that being said, are there any questions? 

 Assemblyman. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN FREIMAN:  Thank you, Chairman. 

 A question regarding some of this information provided.  

Unfortunately, it’s not sourced, Mr. McGuinness, so I’m trying to figure out 

where it’s coming from. 

 But my basic question is, it looks like Camden received a 

disproportionate amount of support -- right? – over the years.  But yet, 

Hudson County had three times the amount of jobs created.   

 Could you comment on that? 

 MR. McGUINNESS:  Well, okay. 

 So first of all, as it relates to the source, it’s all EDA, Bloustein 

School; it’s all publicly available information. 

 Honestly, it is what it is.  I don’t know the nature of the--  I 

mean, it’s easily obtained from the EDA.  I don’t know what types of 

companies they were.  I would say this -- from my understanding of the 

Grow New Jersey legislation, I think the most recent law that was enacted, 

purposely, was very focused on creating jobs, and expenditures, and 

investment in Camden.  I mean, that was intentional by the Legislature.  

That’s my take on the way the law was written; that it was intentional.  
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 MR. PIZZUTILLO:  Pardon me. 

 MR. McGUINNESS:  Yes, Tony. 

 MR. PIZZUTILLO:  Assemblyman, very quickly, the Grow law 

provides for four Garden State Growth Zones; now five -- Atlantic City.  

Hudson County does not have a Garden State Growth Zone.  So what you 

have is a more expensive investment in Camden, due to its deep depression 

that has existed for over a half a century.  And the intent there was to do 

whatever it takes to create a critical mass to break the cycle of poverty and 

joblessness; and basically, to bring back and revitalize Camden.  So that was 

the thinking back then. 

 Now it’s different; and that is recalibrated in the Pintor Marin 

Bill substantially. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN FREIMAN:  Thank you very much. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Okay; anyone else? (no 

response) 

 Okay; thank you very much. 

 MR. PIZZUTILLO:  Thank you. 

 MR. McGUINNESS:  Thank you. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  The next speaker will be 

Andrew Musick from the NJ Business and Industry Association. 

A N D R E W   M U S I C K:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman; members of 

the Committee. 

 Andrew Musick, with the New Jersey Business and Industry 

Association.  Our member companies represent about a million jobs here in 

the State of New Jersey.  
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 I just want to thank you for allowing me to express the 

Association’s views on Assembly Bill 4730, Assembly Bill 5343, as well as 

sort of New Jersey’s overall economic development strategy. 

 You know, it’s no secret, here in New Jersey, that we do have a 

challenging business climate.  The high cost of doing business and the high 

cost of living here do serve as a barrier of entry to the state.  We do have 

the highest gross income tax in our region, the highest corporate business 

tax in our region; the highest sales tax and the highest property tax rates as 

well.  

 However, we still have a number of advantages here in New 

Jersey: our location, our infrastructure network, and our well-educated 

workforce.  However, these qualities do come with a large price tag. 

 New Jersey’s incentive programs help to make our state more 

competitive and affordable, while leveling the playing field with the states 

within our region.  And we’re not alone.  States across the country use 

economic development incentives to create and retain jobs, attract 

companies, and create economic activity. 

 As the environment for business attraction and retention is 

becoming increasingly competitive, New Jersey’s incentive programs serve as 

a valuable tool to allow us to offset some of these higher costs; and that’s 

what makes these programs so critical.  Perhaps most importantly, New 

Jersey’s programs are performance-based; meaning that companies must 

earn any benefit by generating new tax revenue and fulfilling all job and 

capital investment requirements before they receive a tax credit. 
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  The Legislature and the EDA should be commended for taking 

great care to ensure that these programs deliver their promised benefits, 

which they have, in communities across the state like Camden and Newark.   

 However, as economic conditions change and our past 

investments take shape, I think it’s only right to reevaluate and reshape the 

incentives that New Jersey offers.  NJBIA believes that responsible tax 

incentives play a key role in our economic development strategy; and we 

look to be a regional, a national, and a global leader in business attraction 

and retention. 

  And I want to be clear:  We support transparency, sufficient 

monitoring, and oversight of these programs.  

  The basis for today’s discussion, Assembly Bill 4730, makes 

changes to the State’s Grow New Jersey program.  As you move forward, 

designing the future of New Jersey’s economic development incentives, I 

would ask you to consider the following recommendations, many of which 

are already embodied in Assembly Bill 4730. 

 To concentrate incentives primarily on new jobs; to further 

increase the State’s return on investment; to continue to strengthen 

program governance; to further expand access to small businesses and 

rapidly growing start-up companies; to focus a percentage of future 

investments on high-tech growth sectors; to maintain the transferability and 

monetization of tax credits; and to exercise caution on the use of annual 

caps on total awards. 

 NJBIA is also committed to reclaiming our stature as the 

“Innovation State,” as we released a report entitled Indicators of Innovation 

earlier this year.  As New Jersey lags behind our regional competitors, New 
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York and Massachusetts, in venture capital investments, we offer the 

following recommendations to help jumpstart and sustain the state’s 

innovation ecosystem. 

  To analyze the impact a policy will have on New Jersey’s 

overall regional business climate prior to implementing that policy; to 

increase the thresholds for those investing in R&D, and small and emerging 

start-up companies -- this is specifically the Research and Development Tax 

Credit, as well as the Angel Investor Tax Credit; to increase venture capital 

throughout the state; to drive increased Federal research and development 

funding to our higher education institutions; and to provide employers 

flexibility to structure their workforce in a way that’s reflective of the 

innovation economy. 

 We face a potential reality where new programs may not be in 

place or approved prior to the June 30 deadline.  If that’s the case, I think 

it’s imperative that we have an extension of the current programs, or a 

transitional arrangement while new programs are established.  It’s vital that 

New Jersey continues to attract and retain both small and large businesses 

in order to create economic growth in the state.  And we would urge the 

Governor and the Legislature to work collaboratively together to provide a 

temporary transition until a more permanent solution can be finished.  This 

allows policymakers more time to discuss the details of the new programs 

without a looming budget deadline hanging over their heads. 

 As such, we’re pleased to support Assembly Bill 5343, which 

would extend the Grow New Jersey and ERG programs until January 31, 

2020.   
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  We look forward to working with you all to reshape New 

Jersey’s economic development strategy and create a business climate that 

drives economic growth and job creation.  

 So I just want to thank you for allowing me the opportunity to 

testify this morning, and I’m happy to answer any questions you may have. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Thank you. 

 One thing I just want to mention is that Assemblyman 

Kennedy has just joined the Committee. 

 Thank you. 

 Are there any questions? (no response) 

 I have none; thank you so much. 

 MR. MUSICK:  Thank you, Chairman. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Our next speaker will be 

Michael Egenton from the New Jersey State Chamber of Commerce. 

M I C H A E L   A.   E G E N T O N:  Thank you, Chairman; members of 

the Committee. 

 I’m Mike Egenton; I’m the Executive Vice President with the 

New Jersey State Chamber of Commerce. 

 I always appreciate the opportunity to offer our views. 

 The State Chamber thanks the sponsors and this Committee 

for understanding that incentives are imperative to our state’s economy and 

to making New Jersey competitive.  We appreciate this discussion and the 

Legislature’s willingness to extend the current program until we can find a 

more viable option for a long-term solution. 

  New Jersey’s current incentive programs, created through the 

Economic Opportunity Act -- that are set to expire at the end of this month 
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-- were designed to enhance business attraction, retention, job creation, and 

to strengthen our state’s competitive edge.  Through Grow New Jersey and 

the Economic Redevelopment and Growth programs, regions of the state,  

such as the City of Camden, have benefited from these initiatives and have 

seen revitalization.  

 While there has been a lot of attention surrounding how the 

programs were administered, this should not be indicative of their overall 

success.  The majority of businesses that make the decision to stay and/or 

expand here in New Jersey are good corporate, responsible parties.  If the 

State, through its research and analysis, finds any fraudulent activity, those 

responsible should be held accountable.  The State Chamber agrees that we 

need enhanced transparency, but we must not create a negative atmosphere 

of uncertainty.  We must all continue to be cheerleaders for economic 

development.  

  Incentives spur businesses to grow their initiatives and jobs so 

that they can positively influence the economy.  We agree with the 

provisions in Assembly Bill 4730 that use the net benefits test to determine 

the overall success of an incentive program.  Indeed, if the benefits 

outweigh the costs, the program should be expanded to meet the needs of 

the community. 

 Another provision in this Bill would essentially cap awards.  

The State Chamber believes that a cap signifies a stop in progress.  Why 

would we want to stop something if it has proven to be successful?  If there 

must be such a mechanism, we suggest that a monitoring level be 

implemented as an alternative.  Once that threshold is met, then the State 

can reevaluate. 
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 Recognizing that the current programs took approximately 18 

months -- and I was involved during that process -- to effectuate, we cannot 

create a new, more effective, functioning program within the next two 

weeks, on top of the budget and during this time of year that you’re all 

familiar with.  Nor can we allow for the current ones to expire.  Let me say 

this:  A state that lets its economic growth incentives lapse signals that it’s 

out of business. 

 A-4730 is a great starting point.  But at this time, we must 

ensure that our State continues to offer incentive programs, which is why 

the New Jersey State Chamber of Commerce supports the passage of A-

5343.  The Bill grants the Legislature, the Governor’s Administration, and 

the stakeholders the critical time needed to implement more sustainable 

options.  

 Lastly, during the time frame of the extension, why don’t we 

all, collectively, take the opportunity to look at incentive programs around 

the country, implement benchmarking, look at success stories, and bring 

them here to New Jersey and consider modeling our programs after the 

most successful ones?  I don’t have to tell you, as a South Jersey resident, I 

see commercials on TV from Governor Cuomo saying, “Come to our state.”  

There are a lot of factors out there; there’s an economic war going on out 

there.  And I would ask that the Legislature take a pause, reevaluate, and do 

the right thing.  

 Thank you, as always, for the opportunity to testify.  

 Thank you, Chairman. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Thank you so much.  

 Do we have any questions for this witness? (no response) 
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 None?  Thank you so much. 

 The next speaker is Ms. Christina Renna, from the Chamber of 

Commerce Southern New Jersey. 

C H R I S T I N A   M.  R E N N A:  Well, good morning, Vice Chair and 

members of the Committee. 

 For those of you who don’t know me, my name is Christina 

Renna; I’m Senior Vice President at the Chamber of Commerce Southern 

New Jersey.  And I’m very pleased to be invited to testify today on all the 

slew of, kind of, topics and comments that we’ve been seeing and hearing, 

from all sources, on the tax incentive programs, and of course, the two 

pieces of legislation that we’re here to talk about today. 

 I want to start by explaining -- for those of you who are unclear 

of our footprint -- we do have approximately 11,000 members.  And those 

members are from the seven southern-most counties of New Jersey, and 

encompass not just businesses, but also a huge faction of the nonprofit 

community in South Jersey.  And that’s important, and we’re going to come 

back to that a little bit later. 

  But I do want to give a little bit of background about our 

organization, and it does -- just bear with me -- because it does actually 

make sense in the grand scheme of things. 

 Many people are unaware that the South Jersey Chamber of 

Commerce started several years after the Civil War in the late 1800s, and 

was founded by the Campbell Soup Company and RCA -- at the time, in 

the late 1800s, the largest employers in the City of Camden.   

 We were named the Camden Board of Trades, and remained 

that way into the early 1900s.  After which our name changed to the 
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Chamber of Commerce Camden, New Jersey; and to where we have evolved 

to today, which is the Chamber of Commerce Southern New Jersey, 

representing the entire region. 

 But it’s this history and background that really makes us 

believe that Camden City is the backbone of our organization, and certainly 

where we began -- where we started.  And a core faction of our membership, 

of course, is represented there -- not just the businesses that have come into 

the City and received incentives, but a huge faction of the nonprofit 

community that work in Camden City on behalf of the residents and the 

small businesses, as well in the City. 

 At the end of the day, with that background in your mind, we 

feel as though, organizationally, the tax incentives have absolutely done the 

job that they were intended to do in Camden.  This was--  Looking long-

term, we were proud to support the Economic Opportunity Act.  Up until 

that year that the Bill was passed, we had seen, because of our history, 

starts and finishes of economic development in Camden that never got off 

the ground; a lot of, you know, misled ideas and false promises from all 

sorts of people that had led to Camden’s decline.  And until the Economic 

Opportunity Act was -- the language was added to include Camden City, 

that’s the first time that we had actually seen something incentivize 

Camden and work in Camden; and we feel very strongly that it has. 

  But again, it’s not just the incentives and not just the 

businesses relocating to the City of Camden that we are so proud of and see 

as success.  There are also socioeconomic factors that we’re seeing change 

and evolve over time as well.  So in the City of Camden, you know, I don’t 

need to go through the litany of issues that they’ve had, and their crime rate 
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too, poor schooling and education systems.  That is all changing, in the 

process of changing, or has changed.  Crime rates are lower, graduation rates 

are up, money is being spent in the City to beautify the City and make 

more community spaces for the City’s residents and businesses to enjoy. 

  This, along with the economic development we’ve seen as a 

result of the Economic Opportunity Act, combined, bring us to where we 

are today with a really successful, in our mind, positioning of the City of 

Camden to continue to do good things, grow, and revitalize a community 

that, for years, was not doing well.  

 There has been criticism, as we saw; and from the protest we 

saw starting off the day.  There are loud advocates who certainly oppose the 

tax incentive programs.  And we respect their opinion on that.  That being 

said, there’s also been criticism that these large companies are getting tax 

breaks and not giving back to the City, or not--  The return on investment 

isn’t there.  I would like to counter that because, from my experience--  I 

had a meeting in Camden on Tuesday at 1 o’clock.  The entire downtown   

-- everything has changed; the feeling has changed.  And these companies 

have only been there -- some one year, some two years, some three years -- 

they got the incentives.  So I would offer that we should still give these 

organizations time to give back.   

 However, they already have given back tremendously.  And I 

want to circle back to my point about the nonprofit community in Camden, 

which is very vibrant; and all active, dues-paying members of my 

organization that I have a right to support, just as much as I do the large 

businesses that have moved into Camden.  Those nonprofits -- I implore all 

of you, in your spare time, go on your phone and Google any one of those 
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companies that got a tax incentive.  And Google any of the nonprofits in 

Camden, and I guarantee you an article will come up with one of those 

companies giving generous donations and contributions to those nonprofits, 

or lending man-hours -- up to hundreds of man-hours of their employees --

and millions of dollars, across the board, spread out through nonprofit 

organizations -- all of which are also my member companies.  We’re seeing 

the give-back, and that’s only going to continue.  And I think that’s a 

narrative that is lost in all of this really heated rhetoric these days. 

  All that being said, as well as these programs have done, in our 

opinion, in the City of Camden, always changes and progress can be  made.  

And we are here today to speak to that Bill in just one moment.  

 But that progress that I just talked to -- unfortunately we’re 

starting to see that momentum die a little bit. 

 Earlier this week, we learned, organizationally, at the Chamber  

that two businesses that had committed to moving into Camden have 

declined moving into Camden.  So two businesses that had committed to 

moving into the community -- one is a large employer, what we would 

categorize as a large employer; one is more considered to be a mid-size 

employer; both of which committed to Camden -- have notified City 

government of their intention to no longer come to Camden.  And one of 

those two businesses specifically cited the political climate as the reason 

why they are not coming to Camden City. 

  Words matter; actions matter.  All of this rhetoric and all the 

things that are happening at the different levels of government -- it matters.  

And we’re starting to, unfortunately, on the heels of all this great 

momentum, starting to see it slow down; and then we fear decline is on its 
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way.  We fear more businesses are going to start pulling out of Camden, 

and that’s not what we need.  We need to continue the progress there. 

 We need to continue the progress there, and that brings me to 

the piece of legislation, A-4730, today.  The Chamber really feels as though 

that is a very strong jumping-off point.  It takes--  First of all, it does not 

have a hard cap, which is something that we feel is absolutely essential.  We 

need on an open-ended tax incentive program simply due to the business 

unfriendliness that we are faced with day-to-day, that my colleagues have 

already referred to, and you’ve heard testify at length about.  So we’re not 

going to get into all the reasons why New Jersey is not a friendly place to do 

business.  But because it’s an unfriendly place to do business, we need an 

uncapped incentive program to be able to have any tool in our tool chest to 

attract businesses to New Jersey.   

 And we were happy to see that 4730 doesn’t have a hard cap, 

but instead is more strategic in the way that it allocates tax incentives.  It’s 

more spread out; it’s not necessarily targeting specific municipalities by 

name.  But I think it’s a really smart approach and, of course, can use 

retooling to the next iteration of what these tax incentives should look like.  

And again, we are supportive of that.  

 I would make two respectful recommendations for the 

Legislature to consider as they move forward with the conversations about 

renewing the program.  And this comes directly from the businesses in the 

Camden area.  One is that we would encourage State government to 

include, in legislation, State government -- a small amount of funding that 

would create a marketplace, at the State government level, for all the 

municipalities where tax incentive awards are created.  That marketplace 
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would do two things.  It would allow the small businesses in the 

municipalities getting the tax incentives to alert and post the kinds of jobs -- 

or the kinds of jobs that they do -- right? -- the goods and services they 

provide.  And then, similarly, have the large businesses that receive the 

incentives -- have that same marketplace search for the goods and services 

that they are looking to procure from the city -- from city small businesses.   

Because one thing we hear all the time from our larger businesses that have 

received these tax incentives is they want to use small businesses in the 

cities in which they’re located, but they don’t know where to go about 

finding that information.  And similarly, the small businesses get lost in the 

maze of these companies’ websites, and don’t understand the application 

process.  State government can help streamline that; and all that can do is 

not only help the small and mid-sized businesses looking to do business 

with these larger businesses, but also help these businesses give back to the 

city and the small businesses located there. 

  A second recommendation that we would share is that the 

Department of Labor try to expedite training grants for people who are 

located in the municipalities in which the tax incentives are given, so they 

can kind of streamline -- expedite those training grants.  Get the residents of 

that community ready to go in and apply for a job, and prepared and 

trained appropriately to do so.  And our companies -- the larger companies 

say that that would be extremely helpful in allowing them to hire more 

people from the town.  But those training grants need to be expedited by 

the Department of Labor.  

 So there are two recommendations that we would love to see in 

the final version of whatever these extensions of the programs do look like. 
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  When it comes to the actual extension legislation that you will 

be voting on today, the Chamber is supportive of that.  You know, we 

believe greatly that we need, of course, smart, thorough accountability and 

oversight.  We need these programs to be looked at fairly and accurately; 

and the only way to do that is to not rush this through in the next two 

weeks and just, you know, rush it through and not do things as smartly and 

appropriately as they could be.  That being said, I think it’s a fair point, to 

point out, that this six-month extension is essentially going to freeze these 

programs.  Because no business looking to come to New Jersey is going to 

be taking advantage of these programs as they’re being retooled.  They are 

already semi-frozen now, because businesses aren’t taking the incentives 

already, due to, sort of, the political climate we’re in as a result of these 

programs.  But this will really kind of stick a nail in the coffin, where, yes, 

we’ll be extending them and keeping them open; but no one’s going to be 

taking advantage of them, which is never something the Chamber would 

support.  We always want to see economic development continuing to grow. 

  However, in the larger picture of things, time is needed to 

make sure we get these programs right; that accountability and oversight are 

intertwined in these bills; that the distribution of tax incentives is done 

fairly and accurately. 

  And so for those reasons, we do support the extension 

legislation.  

 So with that, I appreciate the opportunity to give comments 

today.  And if anyone has any questions, I’m happy to take them. 

 Thank you. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Thank you. 
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 Anybody from the Board?  

 Yes, Assemblyman. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN FREIMAN:  Thank you for your testimony. 

 In your last point, if functionally the incentive program is dead 

right now, from a practical perspective, why extend it?  

 MS. RENNA:  I’m sorry? 

 ASSEMBLYMAN FREIMAN:  Why extend it?  If it’s 

functionally ineffective right now because of concerns, and companies aren’t 

going to take advantage of it, aren’t we just wasting some--  Utilizing your 

thoughts, aren’t we wasting time on extending it then? 

 MS. RENNA:  Well, no, because the extension of the program 

is just to give more time for the Legislature to debate how it should be 

retooled.  So we’re for the retooling, we’re for a rigorous evaluation of the 

current plans and changes that are appropriate, where appropriate, to the 

current programs. 

 Freezing it--  I mean, no one’s going to use the programs while 

they’re under retooling; it’s just a common fact.  But that doesn’t mean that 

we don’t support a thoughtful process by the Legislature; and we don’t feel 

as though a thoughtful process can happen, one, in the next 10 to 15 days; 

and two, with, kind of, the heated rhetoric and the things that we’re seeing 

day-to-day. 

 So that’s the explanation of that. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN FREIMAN:  I heard it; I’m not sure I’m clear 

on it. 

 So you can argue that having no program is the greatest 

incentive to get one up and going faster, by actually saying, “All right, we’re 
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not going to continue it.  We have a higher sense of urgency to do the right 

thing.”  Create it, rather than having one that is sitting out there that no 

one is going to utilize because they’re worried that it’s just going to go 

away. 

 MS. RENNA:  Okay, I apologize.  That statement helps clarify, 

then, the answer to the question. 

 So currently, right now, there are many businesses in the queue 

before all of this started -- before any of this conversation started -- that are 

currently in the queue to get.  And it’s my understanding that the extension 

would allow them to still continue through the process, should they want to 

do it.  

 ASSEMBLYMAN FREIMAN:  Okay. 

 MS. RENNA:  Should they want to do it.  So if we just end 

them, that dies; and that’s obviously not something that we would want. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN FREIMAN:  Thank you. 

 MS. RENNA:  Thank you. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Any other questions?  

 ASSEMBLYMAN AUTH:  Chairman, yes -- one. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Yes. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN AUTH:  Good morning, and thank you for 

your testimony. 

 MS. RENNA:  Thank you, Assemblyman. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN AUTH:  I just want to extrapolate out a little 

bit more from the Assemblyman’s questions to you, with regard to 

eliminating it as opposed to extending it. 
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 If you have people, like you mentioned, who are in the queue, 

and if you have people who had been considering making application and 

becoming involved--  And I’m kind of hoping like, maybe, you’re poaching 

some businesses from Philadelphia, and so on, and making Camden the 

suburb of Philly; getting some of that business and incentivizing them to 

come to New Jersey -- similar to what they’re doing in Jersey City from New 

York City.  And I look at that model as being almost the same.  Wouldn’t it 

be better -- even if people weren’t availing themselves of the incentives, 

wouldn’t it be better that the incentives were there?  And people would say, 

“Hey, they may be in a state of flux, they’re working on a few glitches in the 

system, but they haven’t taken them off the table,” which is a more 

permanent flat-out “no;” as opposed to saying, “It’s here, and we’re going to 

improve it and make it just a little bit better.”   

 Wouldn’t that be better for the community of entrepreneurs, 

and the community of commerce in the area, to see that type of a signal, 

rather than the signal of taking it off the table completely? 

 MS. RENNA:  Well sure.  Yes, I think that if you end the 

programs and they are dead, that sends a terrible message as well, right?  

And we already have a business community that doesn’t have, as I said, 

many tools in its tool chest to pick from, with all the disadvantages we have 

here in New Jersey.   

 So killing the program would send a terrible message.  At least 

extending the program -- again, thoughtful conversations with key 

stakeholders on all sides of the issue.  I mean, that should send a positive 

message, as long as we can keep the rhetoric at a respectful manner. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN AUTH:  Yes, okay. 
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 Thank you, Chairman. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Okay; any other 

questions? 

 ASSEMBLYMAN DiMAIO:  Just--  Chairman. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Assemblyman. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN DiMAIO:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

 And not to go off-topic too much, but I think it’s something 

that is certainly related -- you touched on it briefly -- and that’s regulation, 

and how that impacts the ability for businesses to move forward. 

 I’ve seen issues where the local level gets bogged down at the 

planning board level.  And maybe it’s on a county road -- you have that 

level; and then the State agencies--  If you have DOT and DEP involved in 

the same issue, they have their own inability to move things along at times, 

and bog things down.  And I don’t know how we get a handle on that; and 

you know that, certainly, Chairman.  You’ve seen this yourself in your 

business. 

  What can we do to make sure those things don’t happen?  I 

see an intersection that needs to happen where--  DEP claimed terrestrial 

crossings -- and I’ll tell you about that later -- were necessary on a bridge 

that needed to be moved for business.  And then, now, after two years of 

delays, all of a sudden they don’t need them anymore. 

 Can you speak to that? 

 MS. RENNA:  Yes; I mean, it’s something -- it’s actually in my 

written testimony, which I didn’t read, obviously.  But towards the end of it  

you’ll see us make the comment that we believe strongly that oversight -- a 

rigorous oversight, and evaluations, and potentially more regulations are 
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something that may be needed for this program; it remains to be seen, at 

this point.  But that being said--  And we support that; we always want 

these programs to be working as effectively as possible, and on the up-and-

up as possible.  

 That being said, we can’t support added regulations and 

oversight that are going to serve as a disservice for employers to take 

advantage of the program.  Because then the program, again, is just going to 

sit there.  If I’m a business owner, and the regulations have strengthened so 

much that it’s just not even worth going through all the hoops and paying a 

lawyer to make sure I’m doing it correctly -- because now we know if 

something happens legally, there’s going to be a lot of oversight -- it’s going 

to deter businesses from doing that.   

 That’s not saying we don’t support oversight.  Please don’t get 

me wrong; we support strong oversight.  There needs to be a balance, 

because we already are so overburdened regulatorily.  But this program is, 

obviously, a generous program in its current state; and hopefully we’ll retool 

it and we’ll keep that cap off the program.  That is what we would like to 

see.  So oversight is necessary.  

 The conversation is always, “What’s the fair balance?” and 

that’s something that obviously is up to you all and the Administration; and 

hopefully, we’re happy to provide insight as well. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN DiMAIO:  Thank you. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Thank you. 

 Anyone else? (no response) 

 Okay. 
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D E N A   M O T T O L A   J A B O R S K A:  (off mike)  Mr. Chairman, 

can I speak?  I put in a slip.  There have been six people representing the 

business community, and only one representing the taxpayers who pay for 

this program. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  I’m sorry; right now it’s 

just for invited guests.  I’ll open it up to the public at the end, if you would 

like to speak at the end. 

 Thank you very much. 

 MS. RENNA:  Thank you, Chair. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Our next speaker is Ms. 

Megan Chambers, from the SEIU 32BJ. 

M E G A N   C H A M B E R S:  Good morning. 

 My name is Megan Chambers; I’m with the Laundry, 

Distribution, and Food Service Joint Board; Workers United, SEIU.  We 

are a labor union that represents 8,500 workers in warehouse distribution 

centers and other sectors. 

  And I’m joined by Tamara Clay, who is a warehouse worker 

here in the area.  

 And I want to thank the Chairman and the Committee for 

inviting us here to speak today.  You should have a copy of our written 

testimony; it’s a one-page document that looks like this (indicates) -- two-

sided.  We submitted them earlier. 

 So our union is part of a coalition -- the Warehouse Workers 

Stand Up Coalition.  Its member organizations are unions, and community 

groups, and advocacy groups, fighting to improve standards for warehouse 
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workers.  And we are going to focus our remarks on the importance of 

standards for what kinds of jobs we are creating with these subsidies. 

 As you are probably well aware, business is booming in the 

warehouse sector in New Jersey.  More than 50,000 people are employed in 

the sector today.  That’s a 23,000-job increase in the last 10 years; so it’s 

almost twofold.  And the expansion continues because e-commerce -- with 

the growth of e-commerce, there is the growth of warehouses.  And we are 

becoming, and have really become, the warehouse state because of our 

proximity to enormous consumer markets and our great infrastructure -- our 

ports and our highways. 

  So the jobs are coming, but these jobs are, too often, dangerous 

and poorly paid; and too often filled by temp workers who have few or no 

rights and few or no benefits.  

  And Tamara can tell you a little more about that. 

 Ms. Clay. 

T A M A R A   C L A Y:  Good morning. 

 My name is Tamara Clay.  I am a resident of Camden; I’m also 

a warehouse worker, and I’m a proud member of the Laundry, Distribution, 

and Food Service Joint Board; Workers United, SEIU. 

 I work at union and non-union warehouses in Burlington and 

Florence.  I can tell you, firsthand, that warehouse work is demanding and 

dangerous.  When you work in a warehouse, you have to lift heavy objects.  

You often have to work as high as 30 to 40 feet in the air on a cargo lift. 

  You are constantly under pressure to work faster, especially in 

e-commerce warehouses.  If you do not have proper training and safety 

protection, you can get seriously injured or even die.  This is what happened 
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to Jose Caba, a warehouse worker who died after falling 35 feet at a 

warehouse in Edison in October. 

 Many warehouses do not even hire a consistent workforce; 

instead, they depend on temp workers.  I’m lucky to work at my current 

warehouse, where we have a voice on the job because we have a union. 

Unfortunately, most warehouse workers in the state do not have the same 

protection as me.  This is why it is so important to establish strong 

standards for all warehouses, especially warehouses that receive taxpayer 

money.  Standards keep workers safe.  In Camden, we need good jobs with 

living wages and real safety protection.  We should not give subsidies to 

companies who perpetrate poverty and undercut the protection I have as a 

union member. 

 By attaching strong labor standards to subsidies for warehouses, 

we can create the kind of good jobs that my community and Camden needs.   

As a resident of Camden, a taxpayer, and a union member, I urge you to 

reform these subsidy programs so they truly benefit my community.  

 Thank you. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Thank you. 

 MS. CHAMBERS:  Thanks, Tamara. 

 So we cannot underscore enough how urgent the need for this 

is.  And for that reason, we do not support extending these programs 

without reforms. 

  Seven months more of the same is just not good policy.  Just 

for an example, according to Federal statistics, New Jersey is second in the 

nation in the number of packing jobs, which are the fundamental, inside-

the-warehouse jobs.  But we are 37th, after Alabama -- lower than Alabama 
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in the average wages paid for these positions; $11.64 an hour.  That is 

shocking; it can’t continue. 

  In the last five years, the NJEDA has awarded $230 million in 

Grow NJ tax credits to warehouse developers and operators.  And these 

awards are made with no standards for what kind of jobs will be created. 

 So EDA subsidies have gone to a warehouse operator who hires 

temporary workers at $11 an hour.  The EDA approved $51 million for a 

big warehouse company to open a new facility; and the company had a 

history of wage and hour violations, illegal employee classification, and 

serious OSHA violations, including a worker death.  They ended up not 

opening the facility, but they were approved for $51 million, just in 2015, 

of our subsidized -- essentially, our foregone tax revenue.  

 So we cannot let these EDA subsidies in the warehouse sector 

continue like this.  It is critical that the Legislature take this opportunity to 

reform these programs now. 

  So Assembly Bill 5343 simply extends the current programs for 

seven months.  That’s too long a delay.  Assembly Bill 4730 not only fails 

to perform the job standards, it actually weakens them by allowing 

independent contractors -- so-called independent contractors -- to be 

considered as full-time employees.  So an independent contractor is 

somebody who works, but has literally no rights at all.  They don’t have the 

right to health insurance; no unemployment insurance payments are made 

on their behalf by the employer.  They are not covered by the employer’s 

workers compensation policy.  They have no right to organize, etc., etc., etc.  

I mean, that would be a terrible thing. 
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  You know, warehouse developers and operators who receive tax 

incentives must be required to provide permanent, full-time jobs with fair 

wages, affordable health care, and decent, safe working conditions.   

 Last week, the Murphy Administration -- Governor Murphy 

proposed two reforms to Grow NJ and other NJEDA programs; and they 

include some really important steps in the right direction, such as an 

immediate $15 minimum wage in that--  Actually, I think it was across the 

board, but we looked at the sector; improved oversight, and an onsite safety 

and health inspection by the Department of Health before subsidies are 

awarded.  

  Reforms--  You know, those are the kinds of reforms that really 

need to be incorporated into Grow NJ and other NJEDA programs, going 

forward.  Business is going to continue to boom in the New Jersey 

warehouse sector.  We do not need tax incentives to create jobs; the jobs are 

coming, hand over fist.  The question is, what kinds of jobs will these be?  

Let’s not subsidize poverty wages and worker deaths.  Let’s act now to make 

sure that warehouse subsidies provide safe jobs with decent wages that can 

support a family in dignity.  

 So I urge this Committee to develop legislation now for NJEDA 

reauthorization that incorporates labor standards for warehouse workers 

and others. 

  Thank you very much for the opportunity to speak today. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Thank you. 

 And if I could just ask Ms. Clay to please spell your name?  

Because you weren’t on our list, and I just wanted to make sure the spelling 

is right for the record, please. 
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 MS. CLAY:  It’s T-A-M-A-R-A C-L-A-Y. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Thank you so much. 

 MS. CLAY:  Thank you. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Do we have any 

questions? (no response) 

 None?  Thank you so much.  We really appreciate your 

testimony. 

 MS. CHAMBERS:  Thank you. 

 MS. CLAY:  Thank you. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Well, first I’d like to 

thank all the invited guests who spoke today. 

 And as I said in my introduction remarks, that anyone in the 

public can submit any written testimony and that will become part of the 

record.  In fact, that’s one of the things that you should do, because I don’t 

have anything from you here.  And unfortunately, this was only for invited 

guests, and this is the first time -- I don’t know how to handle having you 

come and testify. 

 So if I could ask you to please do it in writing, so we could have 

something viable. 

 MS. JABORSKA:  (off mike)  I spoke on many occasions with 

(indiscernible). 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  I’ll tell you what, we’re 

on a tight time constraint, but I’ll give you one minute -- one minute. 

 MS. JABORSKA:  Well, that won’t be enough. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  One minute. 

 MS. JABORSKA:  Well, I’m sorry. 
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 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Well, if it’s going to take 

longer, I apologize; then it will have to be in writing. 

 MS. JABORSKA:  Well, I’ll just-- 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  And please state your 

name for the record, and spell it. 

 MS. JABORSKA:  Good morning. 

 I’m Dena Mottola Jaborska; I’m the Associate Director at New 

Jersey Citizen Action. 

 We’re both an advocacy and direct service organization.  We 

work statewide to provide services to low- and moderate-income families.  

We also advocate with those families and on their behalf. 

 And I’m here today to speak on both the bills.  I was coming to 

the hearing this morning with the understanding there would be no public 

testimony.  And because that was the understanding of the advocates and 

the members of the public who have a lot of concerns about the EDA 

programs, they’re not here today and I can’t speak for all of them, but they 

should be in this room today.  And it is very disappointing that they are 

not. 

 In addition, the hearing today has really lacked facts.  We 

heard a lot about people’s feelings and we heard a lot of anecdotes, but 

there have been facts that have come to light that have been completely 

missing from this entire discussion.  And on top of that, you’ve only heard, 

in over an hour of testimony, from business lobbyists and only one person 

who represents the taxpayers who pay for this program. 
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 So this hearing was wholly unbalanced and completely unfair to 

the members of the public and the taxpayers who fund this program.  So 

that’s the first thing I wanted to say. 

 These programs have been inefficient; they’ve been 

unaffordable for the State.  They have been ineffective, and they have not 

always been the best investment that New Jersey could make in economic 

development and job creation. 

 And so we join Brandon at the New Jersey Policy Perspective in 

asking the question of whether we should even really have all these 

programs, or whether they need -- we think they need massive reform if 

they’re going to go forward.   

 And therefore, both of these bills we oppose; we especially 

oppose advancing an extension without some common understanding and 

consensus around the reforms that are needed, especially if the public is not 

part of that conversation.   

 And I don’t know where you’re planning to hold these public 

hearings, but if you are planning on holding more public hearings for the 

public they need to be before the entire Committee, and not a horse-and-

pony show in front of one legislator in a far distant part of the state.  They 

should be central or in many places around the state.  

 I don’t think that this program -- that the Governor’s timing 

was wrong.  I think his timing, in terms of bringing forward problems at the 

EDA, had to do with the extension and the fact that it’s about to expire.  

What I do think was wrong is the timing of these pieces of legislation.  This 

legislation needs time and input, and you can’t move forward with just 

hearing from the business community that has captured the funds at the 
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expense of the taxpayer.  So that’s what’s wrong with today; not the 

Governor’s timing. 

 I already spoke to the process, so I guess I’ll wrap up there.  I 

have lots more to say, but I can see I’m getting the evil eye. 

 Thank you. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Thank you. 

 I had my glasses on, so it wasn’t the evil eye at all. (laughter)  It 

was just timing. 

 MS. JABORSKA:  I have mine off. (laughter) 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Thank you very much for 

your opinion. 

 Okay, so just to go over a few housekeeping items. 

 Assembly 4730, which was for discussion only--  I’m just going 

to read some of the things. 

  Michael McGuinness and Tony Pizzutillo, in favor; Dena 

Mottola, New Jersey Citizen Action, opposed; NJBIA, in favor; New Jersey 

State Chamber of Commerce, in favor; Chamber of Southern New Jersey, in 

favor; and Clean Water Action, opposed. 

 In regard to A-5343, which extends the application deadlines 

for the Grow New Jersey Assistance Program, and the State and local 

Economic Redevelopment and Growth Grant programs; again NAIOP, is in 

favor; NJBIA is in favor; New Jersey State Chamber of Commerce is in 

favor; the Chamber of Commerce Southern New Jersey is in favor; the 

Laundry, Distribution, and Food Service Joint -- I can’t understand what he 

wrote -- opposed; Laundry, Distribution, and Food Service, opposed; 
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Atlantic County Economic Alliance, in favor; CWA, opposed; New York 

Shipping Association, in favor; and New Jersey Citizen Action, opposed. 

 So if I could ask for the amendments to be read into the record 

for A-5343. 

 MR. ROTHBERG:  As introduced, the Bill, A-5343, would 

extend the application deadlines, under the Grow New Jersey program and 

the ERG programs, for one year, until July 1, 2020. 

 The amendments shortened the proposed extension to January 

31, 2020. 

 The amendments also would extend an application deadline 

under the ERG residential and mixed-use parking project tax credit 

program, that would also expire on July 1, 2019, to the same expiration 

date, January 31, 2020. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Thank you. 

 Do I have a motion to release A-5343, with Committee 

amendments? 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KENNEDY:  So moved. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Do I have a second? 

 ASSEMBLYMAN FREIMAN:  Second. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Any comments? 

 Assemblyman. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN FREIMAN:  Thank you, Chairman. 

 Even though my name is on the extension Bill, I am 

disappointed we’re here.  I’m disappointed that we’re actually talking about 

the need for extending a program. 
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 I’m getting comfortable, and I’m comfortable with extending it, 

because I think that the choices, that we now have put our backs against 

the wall, give us no choice.  But it was our own doing that put our backs 

against this wall.  We should have vetted through the Governor’s proposal; 

we sat through 12 hours of testimony, and I don’t think we’re doing a 

service, in aggregate, by merely extension. 

 Having said that, I think we have limited choices in front of us, 

and this is the lesser of all evils. 

 Going forward, I think that we’ve heard enough testimony to 

know that the program needs to be repaired or replaced; that there’s 

opportunity for improvement, there is opportunity clearly for more 

oversight, more governance baked into it.  There is an opportunity that we 

should put more emphasis on small businesses, which really have not had a 

chance to take advantage of our incentive programs.  The best retention 

program New Jersey can have is a value proposition that is so compelling, 

why would we want to have a business elsewhere?  To me, that’s where we 

need to create a business environment where you’d want to come to New 

Jersey, rather than be paid to stay in New Jersey.  And we need to focus our 

attention and our strategy on doing just that. 

 There has been some discussion that we should continue to 

allow the monetization of these tax credits.  I’m not sure I’m fully there on 

the Grow program, on the retention program.  I understand it on the 

financing side.  But I think it’s use it or lose it, overall, when it comes to it.  

Either you needed it, or you didn’t, coming into it. 

 And lastly, while I appreciate you offering -- and this was set up 

as by invitation only -- this is critical.  I think the public should have had 
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more access to it in total.  I appreciate you allowing someone to speak; 

thank you very much for that.   

 But I am passing this, and I’m voting in favor of this, with 

reluctance, because we put ourselves in this situation.  

 Thank you for your time. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Thank you. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN CHIARAVALLOTI:  Mr. Chairman? 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Yes, sir. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN CHIARAVALLOTI:  I just--  Similar to my 

colleague--  First of all, let me begin by thanking you for stepping in and 

chairing this Committee.  Not an easy topic to take on the first time out.  

But, as always, you did a very good job. 

 But similar to Assemblyman Freiman, I will be voting this out 

of Committee and supporting the extension.  But I do think that, as 

legislators, since that January report -- Comptroller’s report came out, 

anyone who read that will recognize that there’s a need for reform, a need 

for greater transparency. 

 We talked a little bit about my view of the caps.  I think there 

are also other issues, including the audit process, that can be streamlined 

and be much more effective as an oversight tool.  And I also think there is 

some work to be done on the but for -- our requirement.  There are some 

states which would actually require senior executives to appear before the 

EDA Board and, under oath, testified but for.  They would be either not 

coming to New Jersey or leaving the state.  I think that’s language we need 

to take a look at. 
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 And, you know, just to--  I do think we need to focus more on 

creating new jobs, as well as--  If we’re going to talk about innovation, how 

do we focus in on start-ups and some of these small businesses? 

  Unfortunately, I think what we have done is really paint 

ourselves into a corner.  And we need the extension, because the work we 

probably should have been doing over the last six months hasn’t really 

begun yet. 

 And I’m hoping that this Committee will take the charge and 

have those hearings over the next several months, so that in January we can 

have a new program that serves the interests of growing the economy, while 

also protecting the workers; and also taking into account the need for 

greater transparency on what the money is being spent on and what the rate 

of return is. 

 Thank you, Chairman. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Thank you. 

 With that being said-- 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KENNEDY:  Chairman. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Oh, sorry; sorry. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KENNEDY:  I agree with everything my 

colleagues have just stated. 

 I have a little bit of a different spin.  About a year ago, I got a 

call from a company that was going to relocate in Westchester County, and 

asked about New Jersey’s opportunities.  I directed him towards the EDA.  

They purchased a 256,000-square-foot building, and are moving a hundred 

employees from Brooklyn to New Jersey.  And they subdivided the balance 
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of the building for two national companies that are also bringing 

employment to it. 

 But I do recognize that there’s a great need for change.  We’ve 

also had other EDA borrowers who have been put into different scenarios 

that they’re not really thrilled about.   

 So, hesitantly, I am voting in favor of this to get it out of 

Committee as well. 

 Thank you. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Thank you. 

 Anyone else? 

 Assemblyman. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN AUTH:  Thank you, Chairman.  

 I just wanted to bring one thing to the Committee’s attention. 

 There wouldn’t be any need for this at all if we offered 

businesses a business-friendly environment to begin with.  We used to do 

that in New Jersey.  And this place -- New Jersey was a place that businesses 

came to because there were so many reasons to come here.  And we’ve 

slowly eroded those benefits to small businesses and larger businesses; 

businesses that would have corporate campuses in Bergen County and 

Morris County.  And they would move out of New York, and they would 

bring a select group of employees with them who would buy homes in New 

Jersey and raise their families in New Jersey.  And it was a desirable thing to 

do. 

  But slowly, over time, we’ve taken all these benefits to these 

companies and to people who would populate these companies, and we’ve 

made it impossible for them to come here.  And now we are set up in a 
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situation where we’re having government create incentives; you know, 

government doesn’t do anything really very well.  Private industry does it 

best on its own.  If we had just left it alone and let them have an 

environment friendly to their activities, it would have been so much easier. 

  It’s very important that we keep this program moving along, 

correct what needs to be corrected, and throw the welcome mat out to 

businesses that are surrounding us in Philadelphia, in New York, and bring 

them to New Jersey and show them that there is opportunity here.  There 

are reasonable minds here that know that their presence here is extremely 

important. 

 I’ll be voting “yes” on the Bill today. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Thank you. 

 Assemblyman DiMaio. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN DiMAIO:  Thank you, Chairman. 

 Not to restate what I spoke about earlier, but we really need to 

maybe balance this program a little more. 

 I’m going to vote to extend, because I feel we have no choice at 

this given time.  And I don’t want to message anything to the business 

community about us being “out of business.”  I don’t think that’s true at all. 

 We are in business; we want to have business.  We have 

different viewpoints with regards to incentives and maybe the overall tax 

rate.  I feel that the people who are there, pulling the wagon, paying that 

11.5 percent, who aren’t looking for anything but just to stay here and 

survive, should be given a break; just like the people who are getting a break 

to come here or stay here by creating new jobs.  We want all jobs.   



 
 

 54 

 If we had a business-friendly tax environment in this state, 

lower than anyone in the region -- which I believe is an attainable goal -- we 

are so properly positioned in the marketplace that we would be booming.  I 

don’t see New Jersey as really seriously exploding at the seams in business 

right now.  Yes, things have improved; but I think that is part of the overall 

economy.  But I really think we need to look at a balance between, maybe, 

not so many incentives and maybe looking at the overall rates, so every 

business in New Jersey can flourish and hire more people. 

  Again, we’ll have this discussion; whether it takes all summer -- 

that’s fine by me.  I’ll wear shorts. (laughter) 

 But the thing is, this is probably one of the most important 

things we’ll wrestle with for the rest of this year, once the budget is put to 

bed.  So we’re going to talk, and we’re going to have an open discussion.  I 

think we’ve had some private discussions that probably can be very 

productive over the long haul.   

 Certainly, changes need to be made.  But I don’t want to 

message anything to the business community that we are not open for 

business, so I intend to vote “yes” on the--  I have already left my vote as a 

“yes” on the Bill. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Thank you. 

 Anyone else? (no response) 

 Well, just a few of my own comments. 

 There was a lot of very good information that was brought up 

by the speakers today.  There were a lot of good comments from the 

Committee. 
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 This is not a simple solution; there is no simple solution.  It’s 

extremely complex, as many people spoke here today.  It crosses the 

spectrum from labor to--  I’ll talk about the State and how long it takes to 

get a permit through.  That wasn’t even talked about today.  That I could 

personally tell you -- that one of my global clients took three years to get a 

permit in the ground -- to put a shovel in the ground.  That’s absolutely 

unacceptable. 

 That’s one of the other reasons that this has to be done 

correctly, with all of the stakeholders having a piece and a say in what we’re 

going to legislate here. 

 Beyond the incentives, we want businesses to come here 

because New Jersey is the best place on the East Coast.  We’re between the 

two largest cities, between Philadelphia and New York.  It doesn’t get better 

than that anywhere.  We have a great skilled workforce.  Again, this is 

something that we have to address, and it’s not going to be done in the next 

two weeks.   

 Unfortunately, looking backwards is easy.  We have to look 

forward.  We can only change the future.  And this is something that is 

extremely important for the fiscal stability of New Jersey, and all of our 

taxpayers, and all of our businesses. 

 The one thing that is critical is for everyone to succeed; that’s 

all we ever want.  And as legislators, all we can do is listen and do the best 

for everyone who lives in New Jersey. 

 So that being said, I’d like to take a vote. 

 MR. ROTHBERG:  On A-5343, the motion to favorably release 

with Committee amendments in your packets; Assemblyman DiMaio. 
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 ASSEMBLYMAN DiMAIO:  Yes. 

 MR. ROTHBERG:  Assemblyman Auth. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN AUTH:  Yes. 

 MR. ROTHBERG:  Assemblyman Tully. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN TULLY:  Yes. 

 MR. ROTHBERG:  Assemblyman Kennedy. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KENNEDY:  Yes. 

 MR. ROTHBERG:  Assemblyman Freiman. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN FREIMAN:  Yes. 

 MR. ROTHBERG:  Assemblyman Chiaravalloti. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN CHIARAVALLOTI:  Yes. 

 MR. ROTHBERG:  Assemblyman Calabrese. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN CALABRESE:  Yes. 

 MR. ROTHBERG:  Assemblyman Armato. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN ARMATO:  Yes. 

 MR. ROTHBERG:  And Assemblyman Karabinchak. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  Yes. 

 MR. ROTHBERG:  The Bill is favorably released, with 

Committee amendments. 

 ASSEMBLYMAN KARABINCHAK:  I want to thank everyone 

for coming; and the meeting is adjourned. 

 Thank you. 

  

(MEETING CONCLUDED) 

 

  


